

Annual Review of Clinical Psychology Virtual Reality Therapy in Mental Health

Paul M.G. Emmelkamp¹ and Katharina Meyerbröker^{2,3}

¹Department of Clinical Psychology, University of Amsterdam, 1001 NK Amsterdam, The Netherlands; email: p.m.g.emmelkamp@uva.nl

²Department of Clinical Psychology, Utrecht University, 3584 CS Utrecht, The Netherlands

³Altrecht Academic Anxiety Center, 3524 SH Utrecht, The Netherlands

Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 2021. 17:495-519

First published as a Review in Advance on February 19, 2021

The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology is online at clinpsy.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-081219-115923

Copyright © 2021 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

virtual reality exposure, virtual reality assessment, virtual reality therapy, psychiatric disorders, treatment

Abstract

Initially designed for the treatment of phobias, the use of virtual reality in phobic disorders has expanded to other mental health disorders such as posttraumatic stress disorder, substance-related disorders, eating disorders, psychosis, and autism spectrum disorder. The goal of this review is to provide an accessible understanding of why this approach is important for future practice, given its potential to provide clinically relevant information associated with the assessment and treatment of people suffering from mental illness. Most of the evidence is available for the use of virtual reality exposure therapy in anxiety disorders and posttraumatic stress disorder. There is hardly any evidence that virtual reality therapy is effective in generalized anxiety disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder. There is increasing evidence that cue exposure therapy is effective in addiction and eating disorders. Studies into the use of virtual reality therapy in psychosis, autism spectrum disorder, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are promising.

Contents

1. INTRODUCTION	496
2. ASSESSMENT USING VIRTUAL REALITY	497
2.1. Assessment in Social Anxiety Disorder	. 497
2.2. Assessment in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder	. 497
2.3. Assessment in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder	497
2.4. Assessment in Substance Use Disorder	498
2.5. Assessment in Eating Disorders	
2.6. Assessment in Psychosis	499
2.7. Assessment in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder	499
3. VIRTUAL REALITY TREATMENT: STATE OF THE ART	500
3.1. Anxiety Disorders	500
3.2. Posttraumatic Stress Disorder	. 504
3.3. Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Hoarding	506
3.4. Addiction	507
3.5. Eating Disorders	
3.6. Psychosis	509
3.7. Autism Spectrum Disorders	. 510
3.8. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder	510
4. FUTURE DIRECTIONS	511

1. INTRODUCTION

Virtual reality (VR) is a computer-generated three-dimensional (3D) simulation, such as a set of images and sounds of real-life situations, with which one can interact in a seemingly realistic way by using special electronic equipment. The current standard VR systems use VR headsets with head-mounted display. VR provides not only visual and auditory stimuli but also tactile and olfactory stimuli. The subjective feeling that a user experiences in VR as "being there" is termed presence.

By presenting VR worlds in therapy, the patients' typical experiences in real life are evoked to improve their behavior and overcome their problems. Patients can enter anxious situations or difficult social situations in VR in which situations can be graded in difficulty and repeatedly rehearsed in the presence of a therapist before the patients try out these new therapeutic strategies in real life. The most common modes of VR application are exposure-based therapy, behavioral skills training, and cognitive skills training. This review discusses the available evidence on clinical applications of VR therapies for a number of psychiatric disorders, i.e., anxiety disorders, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), substance use disorders (SUDs), eating disorders, psychotic disorders, and the neurodevelopmental disorders autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).

VR is used for not only treatment but also assessment purposes. VR enables researchers to design scenarios that can be used to assess real-time behavioral, emotional, cognitive, and physiological responses to a virtual environment. Below we discuss studies that have addressed issues that are relevant for a better understanding of a number of psychiatric symptoms by manipulation of VR worlds.

2. ASSESSMENT USING VIRTUAL REALITY

The main conditions investigated in Section 2 are social anxiety disorder (SAD), PTSD, OCD, substance-related disorders, eating disorders, psychosis, and ADHD.

2.1. Assessment in Social Anxiety Disorder

Research has investigated whether VR can be used to reliably and validly assess social anxiety and public speaking anxiety, but results are inconclusive. Until recently, the technology was limited so that the preprogrammed avatars used in conversation could not be controlled to interact and converse with the patient in real time. Powers et al. (2013) investigated a new technology allowing the operator to directly control the avatar's behavior and speaking during VR conversations. Results showed that VR conversation successfully enhanced fear (d = 2.29). Actually, participants rated their fear higher during VR conversation than during in vivo conversation. Kampmann et al. (2018) investigated whether a VR behavioral assessment task (BAT) predicted social anxiety in daily life. The virtual situations used in the BAT consisted of engaging in a conversation with a stranger at a bus stop and attending a foreign language class in which the teacher asked the participant a number of questions. Participants were also instructed to give an impromptu 5-min speech (in vivo BAT) in front of a camera. Individuals with high anxiety during the VR BAT reported higher social anxiety on the Daily Event Survey, which they completed daily at home for 1 week. The in vivo BAT did not prove to be a significant predictor of everyday social anxiety. Other studies have investigated physiological differences between subjects undergoing a VR BAT and those undergoing an in vivo BAT. Generally, a VR BAT (e.g., giving a speech to a virtual audience) and an in vivo BAT resulted in comparable changes in salivary cortisol levels, cardiovascular activity, electrodermal activity, respiratory sinus arrhythmia, and eye movements (fixation duration of faces) (see Emmelkamp et al. 2020).

2.2. Assessment in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

Given that some soldiers may overreport PTSD symptoms to get benefits or may underreport PTSD symptoms because of shame, it has been suggested that VR can be used for assessment of PTSD in active duty soldiers and veterans. A few studies have investigated whether psychophysiological responses when soldiers and veterans are confronted with realistic VR worlds would be more informative than self-reported symptoms, but results so far are inconclusive (see Myers et al. 2016, Rizzo & Shilling 2017).

To investigate mechanisms underlying the development of trauma symptoms, VR worlds have been investigated as an analog to real trauma. Up to now, the trauma film paradigm has been used as an analog for posttraumatic stress. Such analog trauma VR worlds proved to be as effective in inducing intrusive memories in a normal population as traumatic film (Cuperus et al. 2017, Dibbets & Schulte-Osterman 2015) and more effective than after script-driven imagery (Schweitzer et al. 2018). Taken together, the results show that VR is a promising technology for research into trauma-related processes.

2.3. Assessment in Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder

A number of studies are relevant with respect to the use of VR for assessment purposes. To examine OCD using objective behavioral indices, Kim et al. (2010) used VR to simulate realistic environments (house and office) in which individuals are asked to engage in OCD-relevant tasks (e.g., locking doors). This VR task includes measures of checking (frequency and duration) inside the virtual environment, as well as time spent gazing at OCD-relevant stimuli. Kim et al. (2010) found that behavioral measures obtained from this task differentiated individuals with OCD from healthy controls. In another study, the same group (Kim et al. 2012) used the virtual environment as a diagnostic tool to discriminate patients with checking behavior from those without. These researchers developed a virtual environment with a house and office for the assessment of anxiety and compulsions in patients with OCD. A high level of anxiety was found in patients with OCD with checking behavior relative to OCD patients without checking behavior and healthy controls. Patients with checking behavior showed a higher checking frequency and spent more time on checking and more time on gazing during checking behavior. This finding is in line with more experimental research (van den Hout et al. 2019), in which individuals with obsessive checking behavior experience greater uncertainty in uncertain situations, which in turn leads them to engage in checking behavior: Feelings of uncertainty provoke checking behavior, and checking behavior preserves feelings of uncertainty.

Results of the Kim et al. (2012) study are in line with a pilot study done by another group, wherein a virtual video game environment was used to provoke more OCD symptoms in OCD patients relative to healthy controls (van Bennekom et al. 2017). The authors conclude that the VR game has the potential to be a valuable tool to objectify and standardize an OCD diagnosis. However, in contrast to the studies by Kim and colleagues (2010, 2012), here it concerned a virtual game environment: No 3D goggles to immerse the patient in a 3D perspective were used. Participants navigated through the OCD house looking at a computer screen.

Laforest et al. (2016b) investigated whether a VR world could be used to trigger anxiety in OCD patients with contamination. The primary goal of this research was to assess how effectively a virtual environment could induce anxiety in individuals with contamination-subtype OCD. After a training, VR world participants (OCD patients and adults without OCD) were immersed in VR for approximately 5 min. Participants had to go through the restroom with various degrees of cleanliness (e.g., the first stall was relatively clean, and the last presented filthy walls and an unflushed toilet). Participants were asked to "touch" the walls and the toilet seat each time with their hands. Results revealed that exposure to a "contaminated" virtual environment induced a higher anxiety level, not only on state anxiety as assessed with the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI; Spielberger et al. 1970) but also on heart rate, in the OCD group relative to the control group.

2.4. Assessment in Substance Use Disorder

Craving in response to alcohol- and drug-related cues is presumed to play a role in the continuation of SUDs (Emmelkamp & Vedel 2006). A number of recent studies have addressed the issue of whether VR can be used to investigate whether substance-related situations lead to craving in substance-abusing individuals. Most studies have been conducted with individuals with nicotine dependence. In nearly all studies, cue exposure to VR cues (e.g., cigarettes, ashtray, smokers in a pub) led to craving, and there is some evidence that peer pressure by virtual avatars is highly effective in triggering craving. Moreover, in alcohol-abusing patients and in cocaine- and cannabis-using patients, VR has proven to be effective in inducing craving (see Segawa et al. 2020). Regarding alcohol abuse, social pressure by virtual avatars led to greater craving than did virtual alcohol cues (Ghiță & Gutiérrez Maldonado 2018). Taken together, the results of these studies indicate that immersing individuals in virtual environments related to their specific addiction can enhance the reliability of craving assessment and suggest that virtual induced craving can also be used in cue exposure therapy (see below).

2.5. Assessment in Eating Disorders

Various studies revealed that patients with eating disorders show higher anxiety when exposed to virtual environments with high-calorie food and certain social situations (e.g., kitchen, swimming pool). These studies with patients with anorexia and bulimia nervosa showed that exposure to virtual food cues induces similar emotional, cognitive, and behavioral reactions as does exposure to real food: High-calorie foods presented in VR worlds can provoke body dissatisfaction and craving for food. Generally, the higher presence experienced in VR situations, the higher is the anxiety experienced (see De Carvalho et al. 2017).

2.6. Assessment in Psychosis

A number of studies have used VR worlds to investigate memory deficits and executive functioning in patients with schizophrenia. Generally, results showed that the VR tasks enabled researchers to distinguish between patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders and controls (e.g., Fajnerová et al. 2014, Josman et al. 2009).

Other studies have focused on the assessment of social cognition and social competence. The use of real-life assessment of social cognition and social competence is limited by the complexity of real-life observation by a clinician. In contrast, VR assessment of these functions may provide more readily implemented functional capacity measurement and has been investigated in the areas of medication management, social competence, anxiety, and thinking patterns, using a variety of VR environments such as a VR street, train, library, park, and supermarket to assess function in different clinical groups. As an example, Greenwood et al. (2016) investigated whether virtual supermarket shopping was a viable alternative to direct assessment of real-life function in patients with schizophrenia. Patients with schizophrenia were asked to shop for items, using a self-directed search in a VR supermarket and in a real-life supermarket. Multiple regression analyses indicated that VR efficiency measures contributed significant unique variance to real-life efficiency outcomes. Greenwood et al. (2016) conclude, "VR functional shopping measures may enhance predictions of real life performance, over and above existing cognitive test procedures, and provide a more time-efficient method for evaluating real life outcomes" (p. 206).

Finally, a recent systematic review (Rus-Calafell et al. 2018) included 18 studies that investigated the use of VR for the assessment of paranoid ideation in nonclinical and clinical participants, including patients with psychosis or with ultrahigh risk of psychosis, in a variety of virtual environments, including a library, the London Underground train, a walk in a street, and a pub. The results of these studies together give clear evidence that paranoid ideation can be readily triggered by avatars, even avatars who are programmed to behave neutrally.

In sum, the use of VR for neurocognitive assessment and social cognition and social competence is promising. Studies into the assessment of paranoid ideation are certainly of interest, but most studies have used nonclinical samples, which limits the generalizability to clinical practice.

2.7. Assessment in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

Studies have investigated whether VR can be used for some neuropsychological tests assessing attention, executive function, and memory, such as the continuous performance test (CPT). Results of these studies have shown that CPT when applied in VR may be as reliable as the classic CPT but may be preferred by children (Díaz-Orueta et al. 2014, Pollak et al. 2009). At least one study (Negut et al. 2017) suggests that assessment through VR offers a more ecological assessment that better captures the real level of the development of attention processes than does the CPT. Areces et al. (2018) investigated the diagnostic usability of the 3D VR video game Nesplora Aula, which creates a virtual environment to evaluate attention, impulsivity, and processing speed in children. Nesplora Aula discriminated between children diagnosed with ADHD and controls.

3. VIRTUAL REALITY TREATMENT: STATE OF THE ART

3.1. Anxiety Disorders

In this section, we give an overview of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that have been done to investigate the efficacy of virtual reality exposure therapy (VRET) in the treatment of anxiety disorders.

3.1.1. Specific phobias. Specific phobias can be subdivided into different categories such as situational phobias (e.g., fear of flying) or fear of small animals (e.g., spider phobia). Specific phobias are some of the most prevalent psychiatric disorders, with chronic and adverse effects on everyday life and a 12-month prevalence of 6.4% (Kessler et al. 2012). Comorbidity is high, especially with other anxiety disorders, depression, and somatoform disorders (Trumpf et al. 2010). The treatment recommended by international guidelines (Natl. Inst. Health Clin. Excell. 2011) is exposure therapy. The dominant theory in explaining the effects of exposure therapy was previously the emotional processing theory (Foa & Kozak 1986), but in recent years the inhibitory learning theory has become the preferred theory to explain the powerful effects of exposure (Craske et al. 2014). For an extensive overview of the efficacy of exposure therapy in specific phobias, see a review about different aspects concerning the success of exposure therapy (Böhnlein et al. 2020). VRET can be viewed as a modern variant of exposure therapy, wherein patients are exposed in VR to their idiosyncratic fear and learn that their most feared scenario does not occur. In this review, we limit ourselves to the clinically relevant specific phobias of acrophobia, dental phobia, and fear of flying.

3.1.1.1. *Acrophobia.* In a first pilot study, a within-groups design was used to evaluate the effectiveness of low-budget VR in acrophobia (Emmelkamp et al. 2001). Individuals suffering from acrophobia were exposed to two sessions of virtual heights, followed by two sessions of exposure in vivo. VRET was found to be as effective as exposure in vivo on anxiety and avoidance measures. In a first RCT, 33 patients with acrophobia were randomized to either VRET or exposure in vivo to heights (Emmelkamp et al. 2002). The virtual environments used in treatment were copied from the real world used during exposure in vivo. VRET was found to be as effective as a behavioral avoidance test. The results were maintained at 6-month follow-up.

A randomized crossover design (n = 26) study investigated whether cognitive coping selfstatements would have an additional value above VRET (Krijn et al. 2007b). Patients with acrophobia were randomly assigned to receive either (a) two sessions of VRET followed by two sessions of VRET plus coping self-statements or (b) two sessions of VRET plus coping selfstatements followed by two sessions of VRET. Results showed that VRET, regardless of whether coping self-statements were added, decreased anxiety of heights and avoidance behavior. In another RCT (Meyerbröker et al. 2018), patients with acrophobia or fear of flying were treated with VRET. Patients were randomly assigned to either VRET plus yohimbine hydrochloride, VRET plus propranolol, or VRET plus a placebo. While all three conditions improved on the anxiety symptoms, no differences were found between conditions, indicating that VRET with a nonactive placebo is a powerful intervention in the treatment of acrophobia.

In a more recent trial, a smartphone application for the use of VRET was investigated (Donker et al. 2019). In a single-blind RCT, individuals with acrophobia were randomly assigned either to

a fully self-guided app-based VR cognitive behavioral therapy (VR CBT) group using cardboard VR goggles or to a waiting-list control group. Six animated VR CBT modules and a gamified VR environment were made accessible during a 3-week period. In total, 193 participants were randomly assigned to the intervention group (n = 96) or a control group (n = 97). Intent-to-treat analyses revealed significant reduction of acrophobia symptoms after treatment and at 3-month follow-up. Donker et al. (2019) conclude that this is the first study wherein VRET is used as a stand-alone treatment without the guidance of a therapist.

3.1.1.2. Fear of flying. Research into the efficacy of VRET in fear of flying has been done with different control conditions. The use of VRET alone has been compared to cognitive therapy (Krijn et al. 2007a), exposure in vivo (Rothbaum et al. 2000, 2006), and the enhancement of VRET with yohimbine hydrochloride (Meyerbröker et al. 2011, 2018). VRET was as effective as exposure in vivo, and the results generalized to real-life situations (Morina et al. 2015b). Cognitive restructuring did not enhance the effects of VRET (Krijn et al. 2007a). Results of other RCTs showed that VRET is more effective than bibliotherapy, relaxation training, and exposure in vitro (Maltby et al. 2002, Mühlberger et al. 2001). The long-term effects of VRET in fear of flying are stable for up to 3 years after treatment termination (Mühlberger et al. 2006, Wiederhold & Wiederhold 2003). The advantages of VRET over exposure in vivo are enormous, given that virtual flights are a lot less expensive and more sustainable from an ecological perspective (Meyerbröker 2014). A more recent study investigated the effectiveness of an Internet-based exposure treatment for fear of flying (NO-FEAR Airlines), with and without therapeutic guidance, including exposure scenarios composed of images and sounds, versus a waiting-list control group (Campos et al. 2019). NO-FEAR Airlines (with and without therapist guidance) was significantly more effective than the waiting-list control group on primary outcomes measures. No significant differences were found between the two ways of delivering the intervention.

3.1.1.3. Dental phobia. In dental phobia, much research into different VR interventions has been done (for an overview, see Gujjar et al. 2019a). In general, VR is an effective intervention method that uses distraction to reduce pain and anxiety in patients undergoing different dental treatments.

In a recent study, the effect of VR was used to relieve anxiety during a mandibular third molar extraction in 51 participants; in contrast, 49 participants did not receive the VR intervention (Yamashita et al. 2020). Anxiety decreased among patients who had received the VR intervention relative to the 49 patients who had not received VR. In another study with 50 patients, VR was also used as a distraction intervention (Ougradar & Ahmed 2019). This study found that 35% of the patients rated the VR intervention as extremely beneficial, 30% as quite beneficial, 25% as of some benefit, and 10% as of little benefit. In another study, the effect of VR was used not as a distraction method during treatment but as exposure therapy prior to dental treatment (Gujjar et al. 2019b). A single-blind RCT was conducted, wherein 30 patients with dental phobia were randomly assigned to receive either VRET or an informational pamphlet. Intention-to-treat analysis showed an interaction effect between time and condition, meaning that patients in the VRET condition showed a significant reduction in anxiety scores whereas the patients in the control group did not.

In another recent trial, VR was used to reduce preoperative dental anxiety with 255 participants (Lahti et al. 2020). Patients were randomly assigned to either the VR relaxation training group or the treatment-as-usual (TAU) group. The VR intervention consisted of approximately 3.5 min of a 360° immersion into a peaceful landscape. Total and anticipatory dental anxiety decreased more in the VR group than in the TAU group. Lahti et al. (2020) conclude that even a short VR application can reduce preoperative dental anxiety.

In sum, in specific phobias VRET can play an important role in helping patients to overcome their avoidance behavior. In dental phobia, approaches different from exposure have been investigated as well. One example is distraction and relaxation techniques, the rationale of which is not in line with the assumed theoretical background of exposure therapy.

3.1.2. Agoraphobia and panic disorder. In panic disorder and agoraphobia, CBT consisting mainly of exposure to anxiety-provoking situations and bodily sensations is the first-choice treatment (Natl. Inst. Health Clin. Excell. 2011). While exposure to different social situations can be a challenge in vivo, VR provides an excellent opportunity to mimic different daily situations for panic disorder and agoraphobia. Although this prospect seems obvious, existing research into the efficacy of VR exposure therapy in panic disorder and agoraphobia has been limited, and dissemination into clinical practice is going slowly.

In total, five reported RCTs have investigated the effects of VRET in patients with panic disorder and agoraphobia (Botella et al. 2007, Malbos et al. 2013, Meyerbröker et al. 2013, Pelissolo et al. 2012, Penate et al. 2008). In a first study, VRET (n = 12) was compared with both a waitinglist control group (n = 13) and an exposure in vivo group (n = 12) in a weekly 9-session treatment (Botella et al. 2007). The results showed that VRET was superior to waiting-list control, and comparable effects were found for VRET in comparison with in vivo treatment. The findings were maintained at 12-month follow-up. In another study, VRET (n = 15) was compared with standard CBT (n = 13) in an 11-session lasting treatment (Penate et al. 2008). Posttreatment, in a behavioral avoidance test, patients were asked to walk on an average street. The results showed that the effects of standard CBT and VRET were comparable posttreatment, showing a significant decrease in panic measures. In another RCT, CBT plus VRET (n = 19) was compared with a waiting-list control group (n = 18) and to CBT with exposure in vivo (n = 18) (Meyerbröker et al. 2013). Results showed that both CBT plus exposure in vivo and CBT plus VRET were superior to the waiting-list control condition. On three of the four outcomes measures, CBT plus VRET was equally effective as CBT plus exposure in vivo. However, on panic disorder severity, a significant interaction was found, favoring CBT plus exposure in vivo above CBT plus VRET. In another RCT, 92 patients with panic disorder and agoraphobia were randomized to receive either CBT or VRET (Pelissolo et al. 2012). In both groups, moderate response rates to treatment were found, and no between-groups differences were found. The results were stable at 9-month follow-up. In a small study, the additional effect of cognitive therapy added to VRET was investigated (Malbos et al. 2013), and no additional value of cognitive therapy was found.

In sum, VRET is a viable treatment for patients with panic disorder and agoraphobia, demonstrating effects comparable to those of state-of-the-art CBT, which recent meta-analyses on VRET in anxiety disorders confirm (Carl et al. 2019, Wechsler et al. 2019). With respect to RCTs on panic disorder and agoraphobia, research indicates that VR and exposure in vivo show similar efficacy.

3.1.3. Social anxiety disorder. SAD is characterized by an excessive fear of negative evaluation and rejection by other people and a consistent fear of embarrassment or humiliation. A central component of CBT for SAD is exposure to feared stimuli while eliminating safety behaviors so that patients learn that feared negative consequences are unlikely to occur. Given that social situations to practice in CBT in real life are often scarce, VRET has become an important instrument to reproduce social situations, and it has been shown to have the potential to elicit the social distress that patients experience (Emmelkamp et al. 2020).

A number of studies revealed that virtual social environments can be effectively manipulated for therapeutic purposes. Our research team (Morina et al. 2015a) investigated, in participants with

high levels of social anxiety, the use of verbal interactions between clients and virtual humans. We applied a VR system specifically designed to expose clients with social anxiety complaints to anxiety-provoking social situations. Two sessions of virtual exposure involving several free speech dialogues with virtual humans (avatars) with simultaneous monitoring by a therapist were associated with significantly lower levels of social anxiety and higher self-efficacy 3 months after exposure. Taken together, these studies suggest that virtual social environments can be successfully used for therapeutic purposes.

So far four RCTs have investigated VRET in socially anxious patients, including those with speech anxiety. Bouchard et al. (2011) compared two variants of CBT plus exposure with waitinglist controls: (*a*) CBT plus exposure in vivo and (*b*) CBT plus VRET. Both variants of CBT were clearly more effective than the control condition, and no differences were found in the effects of CBT plus exposure in vivo and the effects of CBT plus VRET. The results are difficult to interpret, however, given that the exposure variants were mixed with other CBT exercises. In an RCT by Anderson et al. (2013), VRET was equally effective as exposure group therapy up to 1 year follow-up. Both treatments involved cognitive components addressing self-focused attention, negative perception of self and others, perception of negative emotion regulation, ruminations, and unrealistic goal settings in social situations that make results with respect to the efficacy of VRET as a stand-alone treatment difficult to evaluate. Bouchard et al. (2017) compared three conditions: CBT plus VRET, CBT plus in vivo exposure, and waiting list. Both active treatments were more effective than waiting list, and CBT plus VRET was more effective than CBT plus in vivo exposure. Again, given the combination of cognitive restructuring and VRET, the effects of VRET are difficult to evaluate.

The RCT by Kampmann et al. (2016a) is the only study so far with patients with generalized SAD in which pure VRET without any cognitive intervention was investigated. Pure individual VRET was compared with individual exposure in vivo without any cognitive intervention and with a waiting-list control group. This study was the first attempt to develop and apply a variety of complex virtual social interactions. The virtual situations consisted of the following: giving a talk in front of an audience of people who asked questions, buying and returning clothes, talking to a stranger, attending a job interview, dining in a restaurant, being interviewed by a journalist, and having a blind date. Semistructured dialogues were controlled by the therapist, who was in a separate room. The therapist could vary the dialogue style, avatar's gender, avatar's gestures, number of avatars present, and dialogue topic's degree of personal relevance. Exposure in vivo consisted of exposure exercises that could be implemented in the therapist's office or in supermarkets. cafes, shops, or subway stations in the neighborhood of the office. Both active treatments were more effective than waiting-list control for social anxiety symptoms, BAT, stress, and avoidant personality disorder-related beliefs. However, in vivo exposure was more effective than VRET in reducing social anxiety and avoidant personality disorder-related beliefs at 3-month follow-up. Thus, although VRET as a stand-alone therapy containing extensive verbal interaction without any cognitive restructuring was effective in reducing complaints of generalized SAD, it was still less effective than exposure in vivo.

Finally, two meta-analyses regarding the effects of VRET in SAD have been published. Kampmann et al. (2016b) reported that, when VRET for SAD was compared with passive control conditions at postassessment, the effect size was large (Hedges' g = 0.82); when compared with active control conditions, the effect size was not significant (g = -0.24). A meta-analysis of Chesham et al. (2018) confirmed this finding.

3.1.4. Generalized anxiety disorder. Generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) typically starts before the age of 20 years (Mohammadi et al. 2020) and is usually known to have a chronic or

recurring course (Angst et al. 2009). Only a few studies have investigated VR applications for the treatment of GAD. These applications differ in focus and in how VR is involved in treatment. In one of the first studies of GAD (n = 20), VRET was combined with a mobile device giving biofeedback, and this treatment was compared with a waiting-list control group (Gorini & Riva 2008). In VRET, patients were immersed in a peaceful virtual environment (e.g., a beach or a park), helping them to relax. After relaxation, participants were confronted with an idiosyncratic stressor in words. Results showed no differences between groups; both groups improved compared to baseline.

In another study using VR as a relaxation method, the effects of mindfulness skills training to reduce GAD symptoms were investigated (Navarro-Haro et al. 2019). In this study (n = 42), mindfulness group training was compared with mindfulness training plus a VR training in mindfulness in reducing GAD symptoms. Both groups improved significantly on GAD measures, and the group that received additional VR training was more treatment adherent than the group receiving only mindfulness group training.

The aim of a recent study of Guitard et al. (2019) was to examine whether standardized VR scenarios could elicit sufficient anxiety to expose patients to a catastrophic scenario depicting their most feared worry. In this study, 28 patients with GAD were exposed first to a neutral noncatastrophic scenario and then to a personalized scenario in imagination or a standardized virtual scenario that was presented in a counterbalanced order. This study found that the standardized virtual scenarios induced as much anxiety as personalized scenarios in imagination, suggesting that standardized VR scenarios can be used in therapy. Guitard et al. (2019) conclude that the findings are specific to anxiety, and not to negative affect in general.

Repetto et al. (2013) investigated a clinical protocol for the treatment of GAD based on the use of a biofeedback-enhanced VR system. The VR consisted of an eight-session treatment wherein relaxation and exposure techniques were used. In the first six sessions, patients explored relaxing VR environments (e.g., a tropical island) that were accompanied by progressive muscle relaxation. In the last two sessions, the patients explored the island again but were exposed to preselected words or images related to their personal stressful events. To increase the effects of relaxation, patients could access, from home using a mobile phone, the same VR environment experienced during the therapy. In a small RCT, 24 patients with GAD were randomized to (a) the VR and mobile group, including a biofeedback-assisted relaxation program; (b) the VR and mobile group without biofeedback; or (c) a waiting-list control group. Although both active treatment groups experienced a significant decrease on the Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI; Beck et al. 1988), no significant differences were found between the three conditions.

Different strategies have been applied to use VR techniques in the treatment of GAD (see also Wang et al. 2019). Not all of these treatment approaches are in line with international treatment guidelines (Natl. Inst. Health Clin. Excell. 2011), nor do they make use of standardized research procedures or relevant clinical measures. In sum, there are interesting approaches, but none of these studies has proven the additional value of VR in the treatment of GAD.

3.2. Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

A number of studies have investigated whether VRET can be used in individuals with PTSD. Prolonged exposure to imaginal stimuli related to traumatic situations involves elaboration and processing of the trauma memories and is generally considered the treatment for PTSD for which the most evidence is available (Foa et al. 2008). Although prolonged exposure involving emotional processing of traumatic situations and habituation of anxiety is an evidence-based therapy for PTSD, a number of patients are unwilling to undergo this treatment or are unable to

Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 2021.17;495-519. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by University of Central Florida on 04/14/22. For personal use only. visualize the traumatic stimuli due to avoidance of anxiety, and as a result such patients may drop out of treatment. Given this situation, clinicians have developed alternative exposure strategies based on exposure to VR environments. Such VR-based improvements to emotional engagement could overcome barriers in activation of the fear structure because of avoidance. In addition, controllable fictitious virtual environments may be more acceptable for PTSD patients than exposure in imagination. A few RCTs have compared VRET versus prolonged imaginal exposure in active duty soldiers and veterans in the United States. Such VR sessions involved imaginal exposure to traumatic war memories along with a simultaneous computer-generated viewing of virtual worlds of Iraq or Afghanistan with multisensory stimulus options to adapt to the patient's description of the specific trauma. Generally, VRET was as effective as prolonged exposure (Rizzo & Shilling 2017), but in the largest RCT comparing prolonged imaginal exposure with VRET with active duty soldiers, prolonged exposure was more effective than VRET at 3- and 6-month follow-up (Reger et al. 2016). Additional analyses (Norr et al. 2018b) revealed that both prolonged exposure and VRET had a lower risk of posttreatment suicidal ideation relative to the waiting-list control, thus supporting the use of VRET (and prolonged exposure) in addressing thoughts of suicide among soldiers with PTSD. Soldiers who had greater PTSD symptom reduction after VRET were less likely to be taking antidepressant medication, had greater PTSD hyperarousal symptoms, and were younger. Soldiers who did best in terms of PTSD symptom reduction in prolonged exposure were more likely to be taking antidepressant medication, had lower PTSD hyperarousal symptoms, and were older (Norr et al. 2018a). Whether these results will also apply to other populations with PTSD needs to be studied.

Beidel et al. (2019) compared, in soldiers with combat-related PTSD, the efficacy of VRET plus a group treatment for anger, depression, and social isolation (trauma management therapy) with a psychoeducation control condition involving only VRET. Although VRET resulted in clinically significant decreases in PTSD symptoms, anger, and depression, decreases in social isolation occurred only for participants who received trauma management therapy as well.

In sum, VRET in veterans and active duty soldiers with PTSD results in a clinically significant decrease in PTSD symptoms. There is no evidence, however, that patients in VRET are more emotionally engaged than patients in prolonged exposure therapy. Although trauma-relevant visuals, sounds, vibrations, or smells are induced in VRET to increase the patient's emotional engagement with the traumatic memory and hence activate emotional processing, a study of Reger et al. (2019) found that soldiers with war trauma in VRET did not report significantly higher average or peak scores on the Subjective Units of Distress Scale or an increased reduction of distress over time relative to participants in prolonged exposure.

In Europe, another, more flexible type of VR environment termed EMMA's World was developed for the treatment of PTSD. In this environment, any traumatic event can be represented in VR by using, for example, pictures, video, music, and sounds. In two small trials, this VR therapy was compared with CBT in victims of robbery, (domestic) violence, abuse, and motor vehicle accidents. VR therapy led to a reduction of PTSD complaints comparable to reductions due to CBT (Botella et al. 2015).

A limited number of studies have investigated whether the efficacy of VRET could be enhanced by using pharmaceutical agents such as dexamethasone and D-cycloserine to augment extinction in VRET with patients with PTSD. Dexamethasone did not enhance the effects of VRET in an RCT with veterans but increased dropout substantially (Maples-Keller et al. 2019). Results of the effects for D-cycloserine augmentation of VRET for PTSD are mixed. In a pilot RCT (Difede et al. 2014) in victims of the World Trade Center, VRET plus D-cycloserine was more effective than VRET plus placebo. This finding was, however, not replicated in an RCT with Iraq and Afghanistan war veterans with PTSD (Rothbaum et al. 2014). Patients who received VRET plus

505

D-cycloserine had, however, greater reductions in cortisol and startle responses posttest relative to patients who received VRET plus placebo.

A number of clinicians are reluctant to use trauma-focused therapies as prolonged exposure and VRET in individuals with PTSD because such clinicians are afraid that the reexperience of trauma may increase the likelihood of becoming psychotic, although there is no evidence to support this idea. Although hallucinations and persecutory ideation may temporarily increase in the course of trauma-focused therapy, there is some support for the notion that trauma-focused therapy, including VRET, reduces persecutory ideation and psychosis-like experiences (Buck et al. 2019).

Finally, a recent meta-analysis (Wenrui et al. 2019) of 10 RCTs found that VRET had a moderate, significant effect (g = 0.327) on PTSD symptoms and was equally effective as trauma-focused CBT. More sessions of VRET enhanced the effects of treatment.

3.3. Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder and Hoarding

Very few studies have investigated the efficacy of VR in the treatment of OCD and hoarding. Below, we discuss these studies separately for OCD and hoarding.

3.3.1. Obsessive-compulsive disorder. OCD is a severe disorder that often has a chronic course in patients, putting a lifetime burden on them (Stein et al. 2019). Treatment according to international guidelines (Natl. Inst. Health Clin. Excell. 2011) consists of exposure and response prevention (ERP), which shows remission rates of up to more than 50%, leaving room for improvement (Sharma et al. 2014). However, it is assumed that ERP often provokes a lot of distress in patients, and less than 40% of patients receive an adequate amount of CBT (Mancebo et al. 2006). VR exposure therapy has the potential to encourage patients to experience first exposure steps in a safe environment. Although VRET offers large potential for OCD treatment, very few studies have been conducted with VR and OCD patients.

Most studies have investigated VR as a diagnostic device with the potential to trigger anxiety during VR exposure, but research into the role of VR ERP has been scarce. In a nonclinical trial with participants (n = 21) with high fear of contamination, after three sessions of virtual ERP, participants experienced less anxiety and disgust and a reduced urge to wash their hands in comparison with healthy controls (Inozu et al. 2020). In an earlier pilot study with patients with OCD-subtype fear of contamination, a 12-session ERP treatment was given (Laforest et al. 2016a). Three patients were exposed to two virtual environments: one to train them (neutral) and one OCD (contaminated) environment. Exposure included touching dirty and filthy walls and toilet seats wherein the degree of difficulty could be gradually increased. A single-case design was used. Data of the time series revealed statistically significant symptom reductions in all three patients. Given the limited number of patients, larger studies are needed before this approach can be recommended for clinical practice.

Furthermore, interesting focus points for treatment, e.g., the use of rubber hands to simulate contamination with a patient's own hands, have been assessed (Jalal et al. 2020). In this study, OCD patients (n = 29) watched a visible fake hand that was stroked together with their invisible real hand such that the real hand became contaminated with fake feces, simulating exposure. The manipulation occurred either synchronously (n = 16; experimental condition) or asynchronously (n = 13; control condition). Interestingly, after 5 min of tactile stimulation of the hand, no differences between conditions were found: Both groups indicated increased facial disgust, anxiety,

handwashing urges, and discontinuation of the exposure. These findings indicate the potential for VR in the treatment of fear of contamination.

It is remarkable that, despite the high prevalence of OCD and lifetime burden (Ruscio et al. 2010), almost no VR environments have been created to focus on exposure targets. Although different OCD themes often complicate the focus of treatment for VRET, these themes seem to be universal (Hunt 2020), and the question remains whether virtual environments need to specifically meet all idiosyncratic fears to be successful (Meyerbröker 2014). Yet the potential value of VRET for treatment of OCD has yet to be demonstrated.

3.3.2. Hoarding. In hoarding, VR is used with different focuses for treatment. In a first small pilot study in patients with compulsive hoarding, a VR exposure environment was used (O'Connor et al. 2011). Patients could organize their idiosyncratically hoarded things, and such organization occurred in the virtual environment via photographs. In the first phase of the study, patients could hoard their own things in the virtual environment; in the second phase, they could sort their things in the virtual environment; and in the third phase, they could delete items from the virtual environment. The overall objective was to help patients learn how to more efficiently organize and categorize or eventually throw away hoarded items. The authors conclude that VR is a suitable instrument for the treatment of hoarding.

On the basis of the abovementioned pilot study, a small RCT investigated the efficacy of 24 inference-based therapy group sessions of 1.5 h and five sessions of VR for hoarding (St-Pierre-Delorme & O'Connor 2016). While the inference-based approach addresses doubts in a broader sense, the VR environments were used to help patients sort their belongings. In the virtual environments, 30 photographs of the individual patients were set into the environment. In the active control condition, images of objects that were not personal to patients were used and pasted into the patients' VR environment.

In the experimental condition, patients could alter their virtual environment so that it looked similar to their actual home, and they then developed a plan for sorting objects. Afterward, patients could discard items in the virtual environment in a virtual 3D garbage can and rerate their anxiety. At the start of each session, the therapist assessed whether the patient sorted and discarded the same items at home. Clutter levels in the bedroom were found to decrease in the experimental condition while increasing in the control condition. No effects were found for the living room and the kitchen. St-Pierre-Delorme & O'Connor (2016) conclude that the VR task may have facilitated the process of letting go more objects.

To sum up, only a few studies with VR and hoarding disorder have been done, and the rationale for treatment often differs. Given the complexity of hoarding disorder and its consequences (Frost et al. 2000, Tolin et al. 2008), we assume that more than a virtual environment is needed to successfully treat these patients.

3.4. Addiction

Addictive behaviors are viewed as learned habits that are reinforced by rewards according to operant learning principles. Addictive substances stimulate the pleasure centers in the brain, thus providing positive reinforcement for substance abuse. In many cases, however, substance abuse is also negatively reinforced by amelioration of negative feelings. Many addiction theories assume that craving plays a central role in the acquisition and maintenance of substance dependence (see Emmelkamp & Vedel 2006). In some CBT protocols, patients are treated with cue exposure, consisting of repeated exposure to the sights or smells of substances (e.g., the sight and smell of a glass of beer or the sight of white powder on a mirror) until the cravings elicited by these cues substantially weaken. **3.4.1.** Substance abuse. Cue exposure therapy in substance abuse has led to mixed results (Emmelkamp & Vedel 2006, Mellentin et al. 2017), which has inspired researchers to investigate the effects of cue exposure therapy delivered through VR. Cue exposure through VR (10 sessions in 5 weeks) was more effective than standard CBT in reducing alcohol craving in alcohol-dependent patients (Lee et al. 2009). Alcohol cue reactivity led to a reduction in frontal alpha activity in the VR cue exposure condition. VR cue exposure was also effective in social drinkers after one session (Choi & Lee 2015). Although certainly of interest, these studies are clinically less relevant since reduction in alcohol dependence was not studied (Segawa et al. 2020).

3.4.2. Smoking. Some studies have investigated whether VR cue exposure therapy is effective in the treatment of smoking, but few of these studies were controlled, and the results of these controlled studies were mixed. In a study of Park et al. (2014) with moderately dependent individuals, VR cue exposure was as effective as CBT in reducing the number of cigarettes smoked. In an RCT of Pericot-Valverde et al. (2019), however, the addition of VR cue exposure to CBT was not more effective than CBT as a stand-alone therapy. The relapse rate 1 year after treatment in the combined condition was actually higher than in the stand-alone CBT condition.

In sum, although VR cue exposure has proven to be effective in triggering craving, the results of clinical trials are mixed. The effectiveness of VR cue exposure in nicotine- and alcohol-dependent patients is limited.

3.5. Eating Disorders

VR is used primarily in a therapeutic context to investigate two main aspects of eating disorders: body image distortions (relevant for anorexia and bulimia nervosa) and uncontrolled eating (binge eating and bulimia). To assess body image distortions, 3D figures of the patient's body are created and presented to the patient, thus enabling the patient to become aware of the body image distortion and to get a more realistic view of the body. To address uncontrolled eating, cue exposure to eating-related stimuli is used. VR environments simulate real-life situations and food cues that trigger disordered eating behavior. Clus et al. (2018) and De Carvalho et al. (2017) summarize the available information with respect to the usefulness of VR for the treatment of eating disorders, and both reviews are supportive of the potential usefulness of the realistic VR designs that have been developed for eating disorders.

3.5.1. Body image disturbance. VR worlds in therapy are used for two main goals: changing body image disturbance and binge eating. Riva et al. (2002) found, in females with binge eating disorder, that VR exposure for body image disturbance resulted in increased body satisfaction relative to CBT with an emphasis on psychonutrition. In a study by the same group (Cesa et al. 2013) in obese patients with binge eating disorders, the clinical efficacy of an enhanced CBT protocol, including a VR protocol, aimed at unlocking the negative memory of the body (VR-based CBT) was compared with the clinical efficacy of standard CBT and with standard inpatient usual care. In this VR-based body image protocol, changes to the perception of one's body are stimulated. This therapy involves reliving past experience in VR in the presence of a psychotherapist, thus enabling the patient to recognize cognitive errors in their perception of various situations and to interpret these situations in a different way. Only VR-based CBT was effective at improving weight loss at 1-year follow-up. Both VR-based CBT and standard CBT led to a reduction of monthly binge eating episodes up to 1 year follow-up. Thus, although the VR-based treatment was able to better prevent weight regain than did standard CBT, it did not succeed in better managing binge eating episodes. Marco et al. (2013) compared standard CBT with CBT plus VR to teach

patients the difference between actual body size and perceived body weight. The VR-augmented CBT was superior to standard CBT posttreatment and at 1-year follow-up with respect to bulimia symptoms and attitudes toward the body.

3.5.2. Cue exposure. In vivo cue exposure is an evidence-based treatment for eating disorders (Butler & Heimberg 2020). In VR cue exposure, therapy patients are repeatedly exposed to emotionally provoking eating-related situations. VR cue exposure may offer several advantages to in vivo exposure, including improved acceptance of treatment, more realistic VR eating environments than the therapist's office, and the gradual presentation of VR environments tailored to the anxiety hierarchy of the patient.

A study of Ferrer-García et al. (2017) investigated whether VR cue exposure therapy was effective in adults with bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder who had insufficiently profited from structured evidence-based CBT for eating disorders. In this RCT, two conditions were compared after the unsuccessful CBT: (*a*) 6 sessions of additional CBT for eating disorders and (*b*) 6 sessions of VR cue exposure that aimed to habituate craving and anxiety responses to food-related cues to diminish the risk of overeating. Both treatments (VR cue exposure and additional CBT) improved with respect to episodes of binge eating and episodes of uncontrollable overeating, drive for thinness and body dissatisfaction, and food craving, but the VR cue exposure group reported significantly higher reductions in the number of binge eating episodes, in the number of overeating episodes, and in food craving than the additional-CBT group. These positive outcomes were maintained at 6-month follow-up (Ferrer-Garcia et al. 2019). Thus, the results of VR-based treatments are promising for patients with eating disorders. There is, however, a clear need to compare VR-based cue exposure with exposure in vivo to feared foods or body image.

3.6. Psychosis

The use of VR treatment in psychotic disorders is still in an early stage, and few RCTs have been conducted. We limit our discussion to RCTs that used 3D VR with an immersive head-mounted display in the VR group. Park et al. (2011) compared 10 sessions of social skills training using VR role-playing with social skills training using traditional role-playing in an RCT with 91 inpatients with schizophrenia between 18 and 45 years old. In the VR role-playing condition, participants engaged in role-play with virtual persons (avatars). Only VR social skills training enhanced the patients' motivation. Furthermore, both social skills trainings were effective, but the VR condition profited more from conversational skills, whereas the classical social skills training group showed a benefit in nonverbal skills.

Most people with psychotic disorders have paranoid ideation and are inclined to avoid people. CBT, including exposure to social situations, is an evidence-based psychological treatment for people with psychotic disorders, but the effects are limited. Moreover, exposure to social situations in real life cannot be controlled by the therapist, and a number of patients are unwilling to undergo exposure because of strong paranoid fears. Pot-Kolder et al. (2018) investigated whether these limitations could be overcome through VR CBT. They conducted an RCT with patients with a psychotic disorder to establish the effectiveness of 16 sessions of VR CBT (n = 58) compared with TAU (n = 58). On the basis of an individualized case formulation, VR exposure was conducted to social cues that elicited anxiety; paranoid thoughts; and avoidance (safety behaviors), including refraining from communication and avoiding eye contact with avatars. Interestingly, posttest and at 6-month follow-up, a large reduction was found in paranoid thoughts in the VR CBT group, whereas a slight increase was noted in the control group. Furthermore, use of safety behaviors decreased significantly in the VR CBT group up to 6 months follow-up, but not in the control

group. This is the first study in patients with a psychotic disorder that demonstrates that VR CBT strongly reduces paranoid ideation and avoidance in real-life social situations. There is a clear need for studies that compare the effectiveness of VR CBT with that of standard CBT.

A small pilot RCT was reported by Du Sert et al. (2018) in patients with schizophrenia with refractory auditory verbal hallucinations. Nineteen patients were randomly allocated to either a VR-assisted therapy (VRT) group or a TAU group whose treatment consisted of antipsychotic medication and regular meetings with clinicians. VRT consisted of seven sessions with dialogues with an idiosyncratic avatar that was created by the patient, thus enabling the patient to directly enter into dialogue with a virtual representation of their persecutory voices. The patient was encouraged by the therapist to enter into a dialogue with the avatar to improve emotional regulation and assertiveness. Over the course of therapy, the avatar's interaction with the patient became gradually less abusive. The results revealed that symptoms did not change in the TAU condition but that VRT produced significant improvements in the severity of auditory verbal hallucinations, depressive symptoms, and quality of life that lasted up to 3 months follow-up. Four patients, however, dropped out in the VRT condition, which renders the results difficult to interpret.

Although the results of the Du Sert et al. (2018) study suggest that VRT is a promising treatment for patients with schizophrenia with refractory auditory verbal hallucinations, RCTs involving larger samples of patients are needed to compare VRT with evidence-based CBT before this treatment can be implemented in clinical practice.

3.7. Autism Spectrum Disorders

ASD is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impairment in social communication, social interaction, and cognitive functions (APA 2013). For two decades, researchers have investigated whether VR technology can help rehabilitate young people with ASD. A number of studies have investigated the usability and efficacy of various VR skills training interventions in the rehabilitation of individuals with ASD, including training of emotional skills, a variety of cognitive skills (e.g., attention, problem solving), social adaptation and communication skills, and daily living skills (e.g., shopping and street crossing), but the results are inconclusive (Mesa-Gresa et al. 2018). In a recent meta-analysis of Karami et al. (2020) based on 26 uncontrolled and 9 controlled studies, VR-based skills training was moderately effective. Training of daily living skills, however, was more effective than training of emotional skills, cognitive skills, and social and communication skills. Generally, the results of VR training were better for high-functioning ASD patients than for low-functioning ASD patients and for patients older than 8 years than for younger patients. The number of training sessions did not affect treatment effectiveness.

VR social cognition training in young adults with high-functioning autism led to improved emotion perception, attribution, and theory of mind (e.g., Didehbani et al. 2016, Kandalaft et al. 2013). One study examined whether VR-based social cognition training of young adults with highfunctioning ASD led to a convergence between brain changes and behavioral changes (Yang et al. 2018). The results revealed brain-behavior changes in three specific brain regions linked to social perception, emotion recognition, and theory of mind: the right posterior superior temporal sulcus, the left inferior frontal gyrus, and the left superior parietal lobule. If replicated, this finding would provide evidence for the neuroplasticity of brain areas in patients with ASD as a result of VR social cognition training.

3.8. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder

The treatment of ADHD is primarily based on pharmacotherapy (e.g., methylphenidate, dextroamphetamine), as well as CBT or a combination of medication and CBT. CBT consists of social skills training and cognitive rehabilitation. Cognitive remediation attempts to reduce the daily impact of cognitive deficits by improving cognitive functioning and has been found to be effective in children with ADHD (e.g., Van der Oord et al. 2014).

Many studies have investigated VR technology for improving behavioral and cognitive skills in children with ADHD, but few clinical RCTs have been reported (see Bashiri et al. 2017). Bioulac et al. (2020) investigated whether a VR-based cognitive remediation program was effective in children with ADHD. In an RCT, children with ADHD were assigned to cognitive remediation delivered in a virtual classroom (n = 16), to pharmacotherapy (methylphenidate) (n = 16), or to psychotherapy (n = 19). After therapy by cognitive remediation in VR, children exhibited significantly higher numbers of correct hits on the virtual classroom test and on the CPT, and the results were comparable to those from the pharmacotherapy condition. However, children in the virtual classroom cognitive remediation group did not improve on behavioral ratings for ADHD.

4. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Initially designed for the treatment of specific phobias, VR worlds have also been designed for the treatment of other anxiety disorders, PTSD, substance-related disorders, eating disorders, psychosis, ADHD, and ASD. The central mechanism in the interventions for these various disorders is, for most of these disorders, exposure to relevant situations that trigger the specific problems related to these disorders. In some disorders (e.g., autism spectrum, ADHD, psychosis), social and cognitive skills training with avatars in VR environments is also a common element.

An important aspect of VR research is the acceptability of VR assessment and treatment by both clinicians and patients. Many clinicians are reluctant to use VR in treating patients; specifically, such clinicians are afraid that the working alliance may be impaired in VR therapy because patients wear head-mounted displays, thus preventing eye contact (Meyerbröker & Emmelkamp 2008). A few studies, however, found that VR therapy does not necessarily negatively affect the therapeutic relationship. In a study of Ngai et al. (2015), no difference was found in the level of the working alliance between VRET and exposure group therapy. In a study by Wrzesien et al. (2013), the therapeutic alliance was not negatively influenced by the use of VR technology.

Other concerns of clinicians are that patients in VR therapy will drop out because the VR worlds may be experienced as unrealistic and not relevant for the patients' problems and that their problems may become even worse. In a recent meta-analysis of attrition in VRET for anxiety disorders, Benbow & Anderson (2019) compared attrition in VRET and in exposure in vivo for anxiety disorders. The authors concluded that the results of these trials suggest that attrition rates are not lower in VRET than in exposure in vivo. Future studies should investigate whether attrition in VR treatment is a problem in other disorders.

But what about the negative effects of VR treatment? A recent study (Fernandez-Alvarez et al. 2019) investigated the deterioration rates of VR in retrieved data sets from 15 published RCTs for anxiety disorders. Deterioration was established with the Reliable Change Index (Jacobson et al. 1984). The overall results showed that deterioration rates for VR therapy were comparable to other therapeutic approaches and that the deterioration rate was lower for patients treated with VR therapy than for patients in waiting-list control groups. The results for deterioration after VR therapy in other mental disorders have not been systematically reviewed, so there is a clear need for studies into potential deterioration in disorders other than anxiety disorders.

A few studies have addressed the acceptability of VR for patients. Garcia-Palacios et al. (2007) tested the willingness to undergo either virtual exposure or exposure in vivo. The acceptability of VR exposure was comparable to that of traditional exposure therapy. In a study of Quero et al. (2014), the acceptability of VR interoceptive exposure was compared with traditional interoceptive exposure. The VR intervention was evaluated as positively as the traditional interoceptive

exposure condition. However, at 3-month follow-up, participants who had received the traditional interoceptive exposure reported being more satisfied than the participants who had received the virtual interoceptive exposure.

One criticism that can be applied to all of the studies discussed in this review is that none of the studies adapted the virtual environments to the sociocultural context of more diverse groups. Despite the success of various VR treatments in mental health, the question remains, how effective is the use of these scenarios when they do not resemble the sociocultural context? This is an important limitation for therapists in less developed countries, as such therapists are often forced to use generic foreign environments that do not resemble local settings. The inclusion of culturally relevant elements in virtual environments can increase the effectiveness of these procedures since such elements are more familiar and offer the patient a greater sensation of presence. As a first step, in a study in the Dominican Republic, 300 participants with symptoms of agoraphobia were interviewed, and VR scenarios were created on the basis of the information obtained (Garcia-Batista et al. 2020). The result was four scenarios with anxiety-increasing parameters relevant for the population of the Dominican Republic. While this is a first step into more socioculturally diverse environments, their efficacy has yet to be demonstrated, and future studies should address this issue in other cultures.

One limitation related to the lack of dissemination of VR in clinical practice is the economic cost of VR (Segal et al. 2011). VR devices are becoming increasingly available, and the rapid development of VR technologies significantly reduces the cost of VR hardware, thus enabling the use of VR applications in the public mental health care sector. Unlike the case 20 years ago, a full set of VR equipment (one computer, one head-mounted display, and one motion-sensing input set) can be bought for less than \$1,500 (Riboni et al. 2020). In addition, however, there are considerable costs involved in creating new 3D VR worlds. For most disorders discussed in this article, VR worlds are available on the market, but the prices for use by individual therapists are high.

Most studies of assessment and treatment of the mental health problems discussed in this review employ VR systems with immersive headsets. An increasing number of studies use computergenerated 3D scenes. For the technical differences between immersive VR and computergenerated 3D scenes, see Cipresso et al. (2018). There is a clear need to compare the effectiveness of VRET using immersive headsets with that of VRET using computer-generated 3D scenes in patients with mental disorders. One issue to be investigated is whether the presence in the VR world, defined as the feeling of "being there," is comparable in VRET using headsets and VRET using 3D images. If VRET using 3D scenes is as effective as VRET using headsets, VRET using 3D scenes will likely be more used by clinicians since that setup is easier to use in the office.

SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The most evidence regarding the use of virtual reality exposure therapy is available for specific phobias, social anxiety disorder, and panic disorder with agoraphobia. Head-to-head comparisons of virtual reality exposure therapy with evidence-based cognitive behavioral interventions rarely reveal one approach to be superior to any other.
- There is hardly any research published into the effects of virtual reality therapy in generalized anxiety disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder.
- 3. Research into virtual reality exposure therapy and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is limited to veterans and active duty soldiers with PTSD; very few studies have been

published regarding the effects of virtual reality exposure on individuals with PTSD from other traumas.

- There is increasing evidence that virtual reality cue exposure therapy is effective in addiction and eating disorders.
- Studies into the use of virtual reality therapy in autism spectrum disorder, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and paranoid psychosis are promising.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

LITERATURE CITED

- Anderson PL, Price M, Edwards SM, Obasaju MA, Schmertz SK, et al. 2013. Virtual reality exposure therapy for social anxiety disorder: a randomized controlled trial. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 81:751–60
- Angst J, Gamma A, Baldwin DS, Ajdacic-Gross V, Roessler W. 2009. The generalized anxiety spectrum: prevalence, onset, course and outcome. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 259:37–45
- APA (Am. Psychiatr. Assoc.). 2013. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Arlington, VA: Am. Psychiatr. Publ. 5th ed.
- Areces D, Rodríguez C, García T, Cueli M, González-Castro P. 2018. Efficacy of a continuous performance test based on virtual reality in the diagnosis of ADHD and its clinical presentations. J. Attent. Disord. 22:1081–91
- Bashiri A, Ghazisaeedi M, Shahmoradi L. 2017. The opportunities of virtual reality in the rehabilitation of children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a literature review. *Korean J. Pediatr*: 60:337–43
- Beck AT, Steer RA, Garbin M. 1988. Psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory: twenty-five years of evaluation. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 8:77–100
- Beidel DC, Frueh BC, Neer SM, Bowers CA, Trachik B, et al. 2019. Trauma management therapy with virtualreality augmented exposure therapy for combat-related PTSD: a randomized controlled trial. J. Anxiety Disord. 61:64–74
- Benbow AA, Anderson PL. 2019. Long-term improvements in probability and costs biases following brief cognitive behavioral therapy for social anxiety disorders. Cogn. Ther. Res. 43:412–18
- Bioulac S, Micoulaud-Franchi JA, Maire J, Bouvard MPO, Rizzo AA, et al. 2020. Virtual remediation versus methylphenidate to improve distractibility in children with ADHD: a controlled randomized clinical trial study. *J. Attent. Disord.* 24:326–35
- Böhnlein J, Altegoer L, Muck NK, Roesmann K, Redlich R, et al. 2020. Factors influencing the success of exposure therapy for specific phobia: a systematic review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 108:796–820
- Bouchard S, Dumoulin S, Robillard G, Guitard T, Klinger E. 2011. A randomized controlled trial for the use of in virtuo exposure in the treatment of social phobia. *J. Cyber. Ther. Rehabil.* 4:197–99
- Bouchard S, Dumoulin S, Robillard G, Guitard T, Klinger E, et al. 2017. Virtual reality compared with in vivo exposure in the treatment of social anxiety disorder: a three-arm randomized controlled trial. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 210:276–83
- Botella C, García-Palacios A, Villa H, Baños RM, Quero S, et al. 2007. Virtual reality exposure in the treatment of panic disorder and agoraphobia: a controlled study. *Clin. Psychol. Psychother.* 14:164–75
- Botella C, Serrano B, Banos RM, Garcia-Palacios A. 2015. Virtual reality exposure–based therapy for the treatment of post-traumatic stress disorder: a review of its efficacy, the adequacy of the treatment protocol, and its acceptability. *Neuropsychiatry Disord. Treat.* 11:2533–45

- Buck B, Norr A, Katz A, Gahm GA, Reger GM. 2019. Reductions in reported persecutory ideation and psychotic-like experiences during exposure therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatr. Res.* 272:190–95
- Butler RM, Heimberg RG. 2020. Exposure therapy for eating disorders: a review. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 78:101851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101851
- Campos D, Bretón-López J, Botella C, Mira A, Castilla D, et al. 2019. Efficacy of an internet-based exposure treatment for flying phobia (NO-FEAR Airlines) with and without therapist guidance: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Psychiatry 19:86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-019-2060-4
- Carl E, Stein AT, Levihn-Coon A, Pogue JR, Rothbaum B, et al. 2019. Virtual reality exposure therapy for anxiety and related disorders: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *7. Anxiety Disord.* 61:27–36
- Cesa GL, Manzoni GM, Bacchetta M, Castelnuove G, Conti S. 2013. Virtual reality for enhancing the cognitive behavioral treatment of obesity with binge eating disorder: randomized controlled study with oneyear follow-up. J. Med. Internet Res. 15:e113. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2441
- Chesham RK, Malouff JM, Schutte NS. 2018. Meta-analysis of the efficacy of virtual reality exposure therapy for social anxiety. *Behav. Change* 35:152–66
- Choi YJ, Lee JH. 2015. The effect of virtual covert sensitization on reducing alcohol craving in heavy social drinkers. *Virtual Real*. 19:111–17
- Cipresso P, Giglioli IAC, Alcaniz Raya M, Riva G. 2018. The past, present and future of virtual and augmented reality research. Front. Psychol. 9:2086. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02086
- Clus D, Larsen ME, Lemey C, Berrouiguet S. 2018. The use of virtual reality in patients with eating disorders: systematic review. J. Med. Internet Res. 20:1–9
- Craske MG, Treanor M, Conway CC, Zbozinek T, Vervliet B. 2014. Maximizing exposure therapy: an inhibitory learning approach. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 58:10–23
- Cuperus AA, Klaassen F, Hagenaar MA, Engelhard IM. 2017. A virtual reality paradigm as an analogue to reallife trauma: its effectiveness compared with the trauma film paradigm. *Eur. J. Psychotraumatol.* 8(Suppl. 1):1338106. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2017.1338106
- De Carvalho MR, de Santana Dias TR, Duchesne M, Nardi AE, Appolinario JC. 2017. Virtual reality as a promising strategy in the assessment and treatment of bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder: a systematic review. *Behav. Sci.* 7:43. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs7030043
- Díaz-Orueta U, Garcia-López C, Crespo-Eguílaz N, Sánchez-Carpintero R, Climent G, et al. 2014. AULA virtual reality test as an attention measure: convergent validity with Conners' Continuous Performance Test. *Child Neuropsychol.* 20:328–42
- Dibbets P, Schulte-Osterman MA. 2015. Virtual reality, real emotions: a novel analogue for the assessment of risk factors of post-traumatic stress disorder. *Front. Psychol.* 6:681. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 00681
- Didehbani N, Allen T, Kandalaft M, Krawczyk D, Chapman S. 2016. Virtual reality social cognition training for children with high functioning autism. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 62:703–11
- Difede JA, Cukor J, Wyka K, Olden M, Hoffman H, et al. 2014. D-Cycloserine augmentation of exposure therapy for post-traumatic stress disorder: a pilot randomized clinical trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 39:1052– 58
- Donker T, Cornelisz I, van Klaveren C, van Straten A, Carlbring P, et al. 2019. Effectiveness of self-guided app-based virtual reality cognitive behavior therapy for acrophobia: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry 76:682–90
- Du Sert OP, Potvin S, Lipp O, Dellazizzo L, Laurelli M, et al. 2018. Virtual reality therapy for refractory auditory verbal hallucinations in schizophrenia: a pilot clinical trial. *Schizophr. Res.* 197:176–81
- Emmelkamp PMG, Bruynzeel M, Drost L, Van Der Mast CAPG. 2001. Virtual reality treatment in acrophobia: a comparison with exposure in vivo. *Cyberpsychology Behav.* 4:335–39
- Emmelkamp PMG, Krijn M, Hulsbosch AM, de Vries S, Schuemie MJ, et al. 2002. Virtual reality treatment versus exposure in vivo: a comparative evaluation in acrophobia. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 40:509–16
- Emmelkamp PMG, Meyerbröker K, Morina N. 2020. Virtual reality therapy in social anxiety disorder. Curr: Psychiatr: Rep. 22:32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-020-01156-1
- Emmelkamp PMG, Vedel E. 2006. Evidence-Based Treatment for Alcohol and Drug Abuse: A Practitioner's Guide to Theory, Methods, and Practice. New York: Routledge/Taylor & Francis

- Fajnerová I, Rodriguez M, Levčík D, Konrádová L, Mikoláš P, et al. 2014. A virtual reality task based on animal research—spatial learning and memory in patients after the first episode of schizophrenia. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:157. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00157
- Ferrer-García M, Gutiérrez-Maldonado J, Pla-Sanjuanelo J, Vilalta-Abella F, Riva G. 2017. A randomised controlled comparison of second-level treatment approaches for treatment resistant adults with bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder: assessing the benefits of virtual reality cue exposure therapy. *Eur. Eat. Disord. Rev.* 25:479–90
- Ferrer-Garcia M, Pla-Sanjuanelo J, Dakanalis A, Vilalta-Abella F, Riva G. 2019. A randomized trial of virtual reality–based cue exposure second-level therapy and cognitive behavior second-level therapy for bulimia nervosa and binge-eating disorder: outcome at six month followup. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 22:60– 68
- Fernandez-Alvarez J, Rozental A, Carlbring P, Colombo D, Riva G, et al. 2019. Deterioration rates in virtual reality therapy: an individual patient data level meta-analysis. *J. Anxiety Disord*. 61:3–17
- Foa EB, Keane TM, Friedman MJ, Cohen JA, eds. 2008. Effective Treatment for PTSD: Practice Guidelines from the International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies. New York: Guilford
- Foa EB, Kozak MJ. 1986. Emotional processing of fear. Exposure to corrective information. *Psychol. Bull.* 75:20–35
- Frost RO, Steketee G, Williams L. 2000. Hoarding: a community health problem. *Health Soc. Care Community* 8:229–34
- Garcia-Batista EZ, Guerra-Pena K, Alsina-Jurnet I, Cano-Vindel A, Herrera Martinez SX, et al. 2020. Design of virtual environments for the treatment of agoraphobia: inclusion of culturally relevant elements for the population of the Dominican Republic. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 102:97–102
- Garcia-Palacios A, Botella C, Hoffman H, Fabregat S. 2007. Comparing acceptance and refusal rates of virtual reality exposure versus in vivo exposure by patients with specific phobias. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 10:722–24
- Ghiță A, Gutiérrez Maldonado J. 2018. Applications of virtual reality in individuals with alcohol misuse: a systematic review. *Addict. Behav.* 81:1–11
- Gorini A, Riva G. 2008. The potential of virtual reality as anxiety management tool: a randomized controlled study in a sample of patients affected by generalized anxiety disorder. *Trials* 9:25
- Greenwood KE, Morris R, Smith V, Jones AM, Pearman D, et al. 2016. Virtual shopping: a viable alternative to direct assessment of real life function? *Schizophr. Res.* 172:206–10
- Guitard T, Bouchard S, Belanger C, Berthiaume M. 2019. Exposure to a standardized catastrophic scenario in virtual reality or a personalized scenario in imagination for generalized anxiety disorder. *J. Clin. Med.* 8(3):309. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8030309
- Gujjar KR, van Wijk A, Kumar R, de Jongh A. 2019a. Are technology-based interventions effective in reducing dental anxiety in children and adults? A systematic review. J. Evid.-Based Dent. Pract. 19(2):140–55
- Gujjar KR, van Wijk A, Kumar R, de Jongh A. 2019b. Efficacy of virtual reality exposure therapy for the treatment of dental phobia in adults: a randomized controlled trial. J. Anxiety Disord. 62:100–8
- Hunt C. 2020. Differences in OCD symptom presentations across age, culture, and gender: a quantitative review of studies using the Y-BOCS symptom checklist. J. Obsessive Computs. Relat. Disord. 26:100533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2020.100533
- Inozu M, Celikcan U, Akin B, Mustafaoğlu Cicek N. 2020. The use of virtual reality (VR) exposure for reducing contamination fear and disgust: Can VR be an effective alternative exposure technique to in vivo? *7. Obsessive Compuls. Relat. Disord.* 25:100518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocrd.2020.100518
- Jacobson NS, Follette WC, Revenstorf D. 1984. Psychotherapy outcome research: methods for reporting variability and evaluating clinical significance. *Bebav. Ther.* 15:336–52
- Jalal B, McNally RJ, Elias JA, Potluri S, Ramachandran VS. 2020. "Fake it till you make it?! Contaminating rubber hands ("multisensory stimulation therapy") to treat obsessive compulsive disorder. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 13:414. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2019.00414
- Josman N, Schenirderman AE, Klinger E, Shevil E. 2009. Using virtual reality to evaluate executive functioning among persons with schizophrenia: a validity study. Schizophr. Res. 115:270–77
- Kampmann IL, Emmelkamp PMG, Hartanto D, Brinkman WP, Zijlstra BJH, et al. 2016a. Exposure to virtual social interactions in the treatment of social anxiety disorder: a randomized controlled trial. *Behav. Res. Ther*: 77:147–56

- Kampmann IL, Emmelkamp PMG, Morina N. 2016b. Meta-analysis of technology-assisted interventions for social anxiety disorder. J. Anxiety Disord. 42:71–84
- Kampmann IL, Emmelkamp PMG, Morina N. 2018. Self-report questionnaires, behavioral assessment tasks, and an implicit behavior measure: Do they predict social anxiety in everyday life? *PeerJ* 6:e5441. https:// doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5441
- Kandalaft MR, Didehbani N, Krawczyk DC, Allen TT, Chapman SB. 2013. Virtual reality social cognition training for young adults with high functioning autism. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 43:34–44
- Karami B, Koushki R, Arabgol F, Rahmani M, Vahabie A. 2020. Effectiveness of virtual reality–based therapeutic interventions on individuals with autism spectrum disorder: a comprehensive meta-analysis. PsyArXiv. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/s2jvy
- Kessler RC, Petukhova M, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, Wittchen H-U. 2012. Twelve-month and lifetime prevalence and lifetime morbid risk of anxiety and mood disorders in the United States. *Int. J. Methods Psychiatr: Res.* 21:169–84
- Kim K, Kim SJ, Cha KR, Park J, Rosenthal MZ, et al. 2010. Development of a computer based behavioral assessment of checking behavior in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Compr. Psychiatry* 51:86–93
- Kim K, Roh D, Kim CH, Cha KR, Rosenthal MZ. 2012. Comparison of checking behavior in adults with or without checking symptom of obsessive-compulsive disorder using a novel computer-based measure. *Comput. Methods Programs Biomed.* 108:434–41
- Krijn M, Emmelkamp PMG, Olafsson RP, Bouwman M, Van Gerwen LJ, et al. 2007a. Fear of flying treatment methods: virtual reality exposure versus cognitive behavioral therapy. Aviat. Space Environ. Med. 78:121– 28
- Krijn M, Emmelkamp PMG, Olafsson RP, Schuemie MJ, Van Der Mast CAPG. 2007b. Do self-statements enhance the effectiveness of virtual reality exposure therapy? A comparative evaluation in acrophobia. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 10:362–70
- Laforest M, Bouchard S, Bossé J, Mesly O. 2016a. Effectiveness of in virtuo exposure and response prevention treatment using cognitive-behavioral therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder: a study based on a single-case study protocol. *Front. Psychiatry* 7:99. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00099
- Laforest M, Bouchard S, Crétu AM, Mesly O. 2016b. Inducing an anxiety response using a contaminated virtual environment: validation of a therapeutic tool for obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Front. Psychiatry* 7.99. https://doi.org/10.3389/fict.2016.00018
- Lahti S, Suominen A, Freeman R, Lähteenoja T, Humphris G. 2020. Virtual reality relaxation to decrease dental anxiety: immediate effect randomized clinical trial. *JDR Clin. Transl. Res.* 5:312–18. https://doi. org/10.1177/2380084420901679
- Lee SH, Han DH, Oh S, Lyon IK, Lee YS, et al. 2009. Qualitative electroencephalographic (qEEG) correlates of craving during virtual reality therapy in alcohol-dependent patients. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 91:393–97
- Malbos E, Rapee RM, Kavakli M. 2013. A controlled study of agoraphobia and the independent effect of virtual reality exposure therapy. Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry 47:160–68
- Maltby N, Kirsch I, Mayers M, Allen GJ. 2002. Virtual reality exposure therapy for the treatment of fear of flying: a controlled investigation. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 70:1112–18
- Mancebo MC, Eisen JL, Pinto A, Greenberg BD, Dyck IR, et al. 2006. The Brown longitudinal obsessive compulsive study. J. Clin. Psychiatry 67:1713–20
- Maples-Keller JL, Jovanovic T, Dunlop BW, Rauch S, Yasinski C, et al. 2019. When translational neuroscience fails in the clinic: Dexamethasone prior to virtual reality exposure therapy increases drop-out rates. *J. Anxiety Disord.* 61:89–97
- Marco JH, Perpina C, Botella C. 2013. Effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy supported by virtual reality in the treatment of body image in eating disorders: a one year follow-up. *Psychiatr: Res.* 209:619–25
- Mellentin AI, Skot L, Nielsen B, Schippers GM, Nielsen AS, et al. 2017. Cue exposure therapy for the treatment of alcohol use disorders: a meta-analytic review. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 57:195–207
- Mesa-Gresa P, Gil-Gomez H, Lozano-Quilis JA, Gil-Gomez JA. 2018. Effectiveness of virtual reality for children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder: an evidence based systematic review. Sensors 18:8. https://doi.org/10.3390/s18082486

- Meyerbröker K. 2014. Virtual reality exposure therapy. In *The Wiley Handbook of Anxiety Disorders*, ed. PMG Emmelkamp, T Ehring, pp. 1310–24. Chichester, UK: Wiley & Blackwell
- Meyerbröker K, Emmelkamp P. 2008. Therapeutic process in virtual reality exposure therapy: the role of cognitions and therapeutic alliance. *J. CyberTher. Rehabil.* 1:247–57
- Meyerbröker K, Morina N, Emmelkamp PMG. 2018. Enhancement of exposure therapy in participants with specific phobia: a randomized controlled trial comparing yohimbine, propranolol and placebo. J. Anxiety Disord. 57:48–56
- Meyerbröker K, Morina N, Kerkhof GA, Emmelkamp PMG. 2013. Virtual reality exposure therapy does not provide any additional value in agoraphobic patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Psychother: Psychosom*. 82:170–76
- Meyerbröker K, Powers MB, Van Stegeren A, Emmelkamp PMG. 2011. Does yohimbine hydrochloride facilitate fear extinction in virtual reality treatment of fear of flying? A randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 81:29–37
- Mohammadi MR, Pourdehghan P, Mostafavi SA, Hooshyari Z, Ahmadi N, et al. 2020. Generalized anxiety disorder: prevalence, predictors, and comorbidity in children and adolescents. J. Anxiety Disord. 73:102234
- Morina N, Brinkman WP, Hartanto D, Kampmann IL, Emmelkamp PMG. 2015a. Social interactions in virtual reality exposure therapy. *Technol. Health Care* 23:581–89
- Morina N, Ijntema H, Meyerbröker K, Emmelkamp PMG. 2015b. Can virtual reality exposure therapy gains be generalized to real-life? A meta-analysis of studies applying behavioral assessments. *Behav. Res. Ther*. 15:74–82
- Mühlberger A, Herrmann MJ, Wiedemann G, Ellgring H, Pauli P. 2001. Repeated exposure of flight phobics to flights in virtual reality. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 39:1033–50
- Mühlberger A, Weik A, Pauli P, Wiedemann G. 2006. One-session virtual reality exposure treatment for fear of flying: 1-year follow-up and graduation flight accompaniment effects. *Psychother: Res.* 16:26–40
- Myers CE, Radell ML, Shind C, Ebanks-Williams Y, Beck KD, et al. 2016. Beyond symptom self-report: use of computer "avatar" to assess post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms. *Stress* 19:593–98
- Natl. Inst. Health Clin. Excell. 2011. Common mental health problems: identification and pathways to care. Clin. Guidel. CG123, Natl. Inst. Health Clin. Excell. Guidel. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg123
- Navarro-Haro MV, Modrego-Alarcón M, Hoffman HG, López-Montoyo A, Navarro-Gil M, et al. 2019. Evaluation of a mindfulness-based intervention with and without virtual reality dialectical behavior therapy and mindfulness skills training for the treatment of generalized anxiety disorder in primary care: a pilot study. Front. Psychol. 10:55. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00055
- Neguț A, Jurma AM, David D. 2017. Virtual-reality-based attention assessment of ADHD: ClinicaVR: classroom-CPT versus a traditional continuous performance test. *Child Neuropsychol.* 23:692–712
- Ngai I, Tully EC, Anderson PL. 2015. The course of the working alliance during virtual reality and exposure group therapy for social anxiety disorder. *Behav. Cogn. Psychother*: 43:167–81. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S135246581300088X
- Norr AM, Smolenski DJ, Katz AC, Rizzo AA, Rothbaum BO, et al. 2018a. Virtual reality exposure versus prolonged exposure for PTSD: which treatment for whom? *Depress. Anxiety* 35:523–29
- Norr AM, Smolenski DJ, Reger GM. 2018b. Effects of prolonged exposure and virtual reality exposure on suicidal ideation in active duty soldiers: an examination of potential mechanisms. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 103:69– 74
- O'Connor K, Bertrand M, St-Pierre E, Delorme ME. 2011. Virtual hoarding: development of a virtual environment for compulsive accumulation. *J. CyberTher. Rehabil.* 8(4):182
- Ougradar A, Ahmed B. 2019. Patients' perceptions of the benefits of virtual reality during dental extractions. Br. Dent. J. 227:813–16
- Park CB, Choi JS, Park SM, Lee JY, Jung HY, et al. 2014. Comparison of the effectiveness of virtual cue exposure therapy and cognitive behavioral therapy for nicotine dependence. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 17:262–67
- Park KM, Ku J, Choi SH, Jang HJ, Park JY. 2011. A virtual reality application in role-plays of social skills training for schizophrenia: a randomized, controlled trial. *Psychiatr. Res.* 189:166–72

- Pelissolo A, Zaoui M, Aguayo G, Yao SN, Roche S, et al. 2012. Virtual reality exposure therapy versus cognitive behavior therapy for panic disorder with agoraphobia: a randomized comparison study. *J. CyberTher*. *Rehabil.* 5:34–43
- Penate W, Pitti CT, Manuel Bethencourt J, de la Fuente J, Gracia R. 2008. The effects of a treatment based on the use of virtual reality exposure and cognitive-behavioral therapy applied to patients with agoraphobia. *Int. J. Clin. Health Psychol.* 8:5–22
- Pericot-Valverde I, Secades-Villa R, Gutiérrez-Maldonado J. 2019. A randomized clinical trial of cue exposure treatment through virtual reality for smoking cessation. J. Subst. Abuse Treat. 96:26–32
- Pollak Y, Weiss PL, Rizzo AA, Weizer M, Shriki L, et al. 2009. The utility of a continuous performance test embedded in virtual reality in measuring ADHD-related deficits. *7. Dev. Behav. Pediatr.* 30:2–6
- Pot-Kolder RMCA, Geraets CNW, Veling W, van Beilen M, Staring ABP, et al. 2018. Virtual-reality-based cognitive behavioural therapy versus waiting list control for paranoid ideation and social avoidance in patients with psychotic disorders: a single-blind randomized controlled trial. *Lancet Psychiatr.* 8:217–26
- Powers MB, Briceno NF, Gresham R, Jouriles EN, Emmelkamp PMG. 2013. Do conversations with virtual avatars increase feelings of social anxiety? J. Anxiety Disord. 27:398–403
- Quero S, Angeles Perez-Ara M, Breton-Lopez J, Garcia-Palacios A, Banos RM, et al. 2014. Acceptability of virtual reality interoceptive exposure for the treatment of panic disorder with agoraphobia. Br. J. Guid. Counc. 42:123–37
- Reger GM, Koenen-Woods P, Zetocha K, Smolenski DJ, Rothbaum BO, et al. 2016. Randomized controlled trial of prolonged exposure using imaginal exposure versus virtual reality exposure in active duty soldiers with deployment-related posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 84:946–59
- Reger GM, Smolenski DJ, Norr AM, Katz AC, Buck B, et al. 2019. Does virtual reality increase emotional engagement during exposure for PTSD? Subjective distress during prolonged and virtual reality exposure therapy. J. Anxiety Disord. 61:75–81
- Repetto C, Gaggioli A, Pallavicini F, Cipresso P, Raspelli S, et al. 2013. Virtual reality and mobile phones in the treatment of generalized anxiety disorders: a phase-2 clinical trial. *Pers. Ubiquitous Comput.* 17:253–60
- Riboni FV, Comazzi B, Bercovitz K, Castelnuovo G, Molinari E, et al. 2020. Technologically-enhanced psychological interventions for older adults: a scoping review. *BMC Geriatr.* 20:191. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12877-020-01594-9
- Riva G, Bacchetta M, Baruffi M, Molinari E. 2002. Virtual-reality-based multidimensional therapy for the treatment of body image disturbances in binge eating disorders. *IEEE Trans. Inform. Technol. Biomed.* 6:224–34
- Rizzo AA, Shilling R. 2017. Clinical virtual reality tools to advance the prevention, assessment, and treatment of PTSD. Eur. J. Psychotraumatol. 8:1414560. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2017.1414560
- Rothbaum BO, Anderson P, Zimand E, Hodges L, Lang D, et al. 2006. Virtual reality exposure therapy and standard (in vivo) exposure therapy in the treatment of fear of flying. *Behav. Ther.* 37:80–90
- Rothbaum BO, Hodges L, Smith S, Lee JH, Price L. 2000. A controlled study of virtual reality exposure therapy for the fear of flying. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 68:1020–26
- Rothbaum BO, Price M, Jovanovic T, Norrholm SD, Gerardi M, et al. 2014. A randomized, double-blind evaluation of D-cycloserine or alprazolam combined with virtual reality exposure therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder in Iraq and Afghanistan war veterans. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 171:640–48
- Rus-Calafell M, Garety P, Sason E, Craig TJK, Valmaggia LR. 2018. Virtual reality in the assessment and treatment of psychosis: a systematic review of its utility, acceptability and effectiveness. *Behav. Med.* 48:362–91
- Ruscio AM, Stein DJ, Chiu WT, Kessler RC. 2010. The epidemiology of obsessive compulsive disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Mol. Psychiatry* 15:53–63
- Schweitzer T, Renner F, Sun D, Kleim B, Holmes EA, Tischen-Caffier B. 2018. Psychophysiological reactivity, coping behaviour and intrusive memories upon multisensory virtual reality and script-driven imagery analogue trauma: a randomised controlled crossover study. J. Anxiety Disord. 59:42–52
- Segal R, Bhatia M, Drapeau M. 2011. Therapists' perception of benefits and costs of using virtual reality treatments. Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw. 14:29–34
- Segawa T, Baudry T, Bourla A, Blanc JV, Peretti CS, et al. 2020. Virtual reality (VR) in assessment and treatment of addictive disorders: a systematic review. *Front. Neurosci.* 13:1409. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2019.01409

- Sharma E, Thennarasu K, Reddy YCJ. 2014. Long-term outcome of obsessive-compulsive disorder in adults. J. Clin. Psychiatry 75:1019–27
- Spielberger CD, Gorusch RL, Lushene RE. 1970. *Manual of the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory*. Palo Alto, CA: Consult. Psychol. Press
- St-Pierre-Delorme M-E, O'Connor K. 2016. Using virtual reality in the inference-based treatment of compulsive hoarding. *Front. Public Health* 4:149. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00149
- Stein DJ, Costa DLC, Lochner C, Miguel EC, Reddy YCJ, et al. 2019. Obsessive-compulsive disorder. Nat. Rev. Dis. Prim. 5:52. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0102-3
- Tolin DF, Frost RO, Steketee G, Gray KD, Fitch KE. 2008. The economic and social burden of compulsive hoarding. *Psychiatry Res.* 160:200–11
- Trumpf J, Margraf J, Vriends N, Meyer AH, Becker ES. 2010. Specific phobia predicts psychopathology in young women. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr: Epidemiol. 45:1161–66
- Van Bennekom MJ, Kasanmoentalib MS, de Koning PP, Denys DA. 2017. Virtual reality game to assess obsessive-compulsive disorder. Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw. 20:718–22
- Van den Hout MA, van Dis EAM, van Woudenberg C, van de Groep IH. 2019. OCD-like checking in the lab: a meta-analysis and improvement of an experimental paradigm. J. Obsessive Compuls. Relat. Disord. 20:39–49
- Van der Oord S, Ponsioen AJ, Geurts HM, Ten Brink EL, Prins PJ. 2014. A pilot study of the efficacy of a computerized executive functioning remediation training with game elements for children with ADHD in an outpatient setting: outcome on parent- and teacher-rated executive functioning and ADHD behavior. *J. Attent. Disord.* 18:699–712
- Wang TC, Tsai CL, Tang TW, Wang WL, Lee KT. 2019. The effect of cycling through a projection-based virtual environment system on generalized anxiety disorder. *J. Clin. Med.* 8(7):973. https://doi.org/10. 3390/jcm8070973
- Wechsler TF, Kuempers F, Muehlberger A. 2019. Inferiority or even superiority of virtual reality exposure therapy in phobias? A systematic review and quantitative meta-analysis on randomized controlled trials specifically comparing the efficacy of virtual reality exposure to gold standard in vivo exposure. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1758. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01758
- Wenrui D, Die H, Sheng X, Xiaoyu L, Jingwen Z, et al. 2019. The efficacy of virtual reality exposure therapy for PTSD symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Affect. Disord. 257:698–709
- Wiederhold BK, Wiederhold MD. 2003. Three-year follow-up for virtual reality exposure for fear of flying. Cyber. Psychol. Behav. 6:441–45
- Wrzesien M, Bretón-López J, Botella C, Burkhardt JM, Alcañiz M, et al. 2013. How technology influences the therapeutic process: evaluation of the patient-therapist relationship in augmented reality exposure therapy and in vivo exposure therapy. *Behav. Cogn. Psychother*. 41:505–9
- Yamashita Y, Shimohira D, Aijima R, Mori K, Danjo A. 2020. Clinical effect of virtual reality to relieve anxiety during impacted mandibular third molar extraction under local anesthesia. *J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* 78(4):545.e1–e6
- Yang YJD, Allen T, Abdullahi SM, Pelphrey KA, Volkmar FR. 2018. Neural mechanisms of behavioral change in young adults with high-functioning autism receiving virtual reality social cognition training: a pilot study. *Autism Res.* 11:713–25



Annual Review of Clinical Psychology

Volume 17, 2021

Contents

e.	Smoking Treatment: A Report Card on Progress and Challenges Timothy B. Baker and Danielle E. McCarthy 1
]	Network Analysis of Psychopathology: Controversies and Challenges <i>Richard J. McNally</i>
]	Developing and Validating Clinical Questionnaires Anthony J. Rosellini and Timothy A. Brown55
	 The Hierarchical Taxonomy of Psychopathology (HiTOP): A Quantitative Nosology Based on Consensus of Evidence Roman Kotov, Robert F. Krueger; David Watson, David C. Cicero, Christopher C. Conway, Colin G. DeYoung, Nicholas R. Eaton, Miriam K. Forbes, Michael N. Hallquist, Robert D. Latzman, Stephanie N. Mullins-Sweatt, Camilo J. Ruggero, Leonard J. Simms, Irwin D. Waldman, Monika A. Waszczuk, and Aidan G.C. Wright
]	History and Status of Prolonged Grief Disorder as a Psychiatric Diagnosis <i>Holly G. Prigerson, Sophia Kakarala, James Gang, and Paul K. Maciejewski</i>
	 Violence, Place, and Strengthened Space: A Review of Immigration Stress, Violence Exposure, and Intervention for Immigrant Latinx Youth and Families Sarah A. Jolie, Ogechi Cynthia Onyeka, Stephanie Torres, Cara DiClemente, Maryse Richards, and Catherine DeCarlo Santiago
ŝ	Social Behavior as a Transdiagnostic Marker of Resilience <i>Ruth Feldman</i>
1	Mental Health and Wealth: Depression, Gender, Poverty, and Parenting <i>Megan V. Smith and Carolyn M. Mazure</i>
]	Ketamine and the Future of Rapid-Acting Antidepressants Lace M. Riggs and Todd D. Gould

Intimate Relationships and Depression: Searching for Causation in the Sea of Association <i>Mark A. Whisman, David A. Sbarra, and Steven R.H. Beach</i>
Saving Lives: Recognizing and Intervening with Youth at Risk for Suicide <i>Alejandra Arango, Polly Y. Gipson, Jennifer G. Votta, and Cheryl A. King</i>
Early Environmental Upheaval and the Risk for Schizophrenia Vincent Paquin, Mylène Lapierre, Franz Veru, and Suzanne King
DSM-5 Level of Personality Functioning: Refocusing Personality Disorder on What It Means to Be Human <i>Carla Sharp and Kiana Wall</i>
Developmental Perspectives on the Study of Persons with Intellectual Disability Jacob A. Burack, David W. Evans, Natalie Russo, Jenilee-Sarah Napoleon, Karen J. Goldman, and Grace Iarocci
Clinical and Translational Implications of an Emerging Developmental Substructure for Autism John N. Constantino, Tony Charman, and Emily J.H. Jones
Conduct Disorders and Empathy Development Paul J. Frick and Emily C. Kemp
Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for the Eating Disorders W. Stewart Agras and Cara Bohon
Child Sexual Abuse as a Unique Risk Factor for the Development of Psychopathology: The Compounded Convergence of Mechanisms <i>Jennie G. Noll</i>
Clinical Neuroscience of Addiction: What Clinical Psychologists Need to Know and Why <i>Lara A. Ray and Erica N. Grodin</i>
Virtual Reality Therapy in Mental Health Paul M.G. Emmelkamp and Katharina Meyerbröker
Resilience in Development and Psychopathology: Multisystem Perspectives Ann S. Masten, Cara M. Lucke, Kayla M. Nelson, and Isabella C. Stallworthy 521
Designing Evidence-Based Preventive Interventions That Reach More People, Faster, and with More Impact in Global Contexts <i>Mary Jane Rotheram-Borus</i>

Pathology in Rela	tionships	
Susan C. South		. 577

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/clinpsy